

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Pharmacology & Therapeutics





Associate editor: B. Teicher

Validating the pharmacogenomics of chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity: What is missing?



Pharmacology Therapeutics

雨

Tarek Magdy, Brian T. Burmeister, Paul W. Burridge *

Department of Pharmacology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, USA Center for Pharmacogenomics, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Available online 5 September 2016

Keywords: Chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity pharmacogenomics human induced pluripotent stem cells cardiomyopathy

ABSTRACT

The cardiotoxicity of certain chemotherapeutic agents is now well-established, and has led to the development of the field of cardio-oncology, increased cardiac screening of cancer patients, and limitation of patients' maximum cumulative chemotherapeutic dose. The effect of chemotherapeutic regimes on the heart largely involves cardiomyocyte death, leading to cardiomyopathy and heart failure, or the induction of arrhythmias. Of these cardiotoxic drugs, those resulting in clinical cardiotoxicity can range from 8 to 26% for doxorubicin, 7–28% for trastuzumab, or 5–30% for paclitaxel. For tyrosine kinase inhibitors, QT prolongation and arrhythmia, ischemia and hypertension have been reported in 2–35% of patients. Furthermore, newly introduced chemotherapeutic agents are commonly used as part of changed combinational regimens with significantly increased incidence of cardiotoxicity. It is widely believed that the mechanism of action of these drugs is often independent of their cardiotoxicity, and the basis for why these drugs specifically affect the heart has yet to be established. The genetic rationale for why certain patients experience cardiotoxicity whilst other patients can tolerate high chemotherapy doses has proven highly illusive. This has led to significant genomic efforts using targeted and genome-wide association studies (GWAS) to divine the pharmacogenomic cause of this predilection. With the advent of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs), the putative risk and protective role of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) can now be validated in a human model. Here we review the state of the art knowledge of the genetic predilection to chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity and discuss the future for establishing and validating the role of the genome in this disease.

© 2016 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction									
2.	Cardiotoxicity of anti-cancer therapeutics									
3.	. Patient-specific toxicity: pharmacogenomics and personalized medicine									
4.	Pharmacogenomics of doxorubicin 117									
5.	Pharmacogenomics of tyrosine kinase inhibitors									
6.	5. Validation of chemotherapy induced cardiotoxicity associated single nucleotide polymorphisms									
7.	Conclusion									
Conflict of interest										
Acknowledgements										
References										

1. Introduction

Corresponding author at: Department of Pharmacology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 320 E Superior St, Searle 8-525, Chicago, IL 60611, USA. *E-mail address*: paul.burridge@northwestern.edu (P.W. Burridge).

Despite the substantial improvement in cancer care, which has resulted in the increase in 5-year survival rate from 35% in the early 1950s to 70% in 2006–2012, the extensive use of chemotherapeutic agents is concordant with a higher incidence of adverse drug events (ADE). ADEs are one of the leading causes of death worldwide. According to the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) adverse drug events reporting system (FAERS), about 1 million serious (including death) ADEs were reported in 2014 in the USA alone (fda.gov). Cardiotoxicity is a common ADE for multiple anti-cancer agents, constituting a significant clinical and economic burden, resulting in the establishment of the field of cardio-oncology to elucidate this phenomenon. Chemotherapyinduced cardiotoxicity (CIC) can be defined as subclinical or clinical, causing manifestations that include disturbance in ventricular de/repolarization and QT interval, arrhythmia, bradycardia, tachycardia, decreases in left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) and fractional shortening (FS), and irreversible congestive heart failure (CHF), all of which lead to increased morbidity and mortality. In addition, cardiotoxicity may be classified as early-onset acute (developed directly or up to 1 year after treatment) or late-onset chronic (detected at 1 to 20 years after starting chemotherapy), making the situation even more complex, as lifelong follow-up monitoring of patients is a substantial clinical burden. The childhood cancer survivor study (CCSS) is a large multi-center, long-term effort to follow ~10,000 cancer survivors diagnosed in the period between 1960 and 1986. 30 years after initial diagnosis, the accumulative incidence of severe chronic health conditions, including myocardial infarction and CHF, was 73.4%. After adjustments for age, sex, and ethnicity, survivors showed an 8.2-fold higher risk of developing severe chronic health conditions (Grade 3 and Grade 4) compared to their siblings who did not receive any cancer treatments (Oeffinger et al., 2006). Hence, identifying risk factors for CIC that make certain patients more susceptible than others, as well as identifying and understanding the underlying mechanism of ADEs, is essential to improving clinical outcome of chemotherapy treatment regimens. In this review we will focus on genetically-dependent interpatient variability in susceptibility to CIC and the extent to which identified genetic polymorphisms are linked to the mechanisms of CIC with an emphasis on doxorubicin pharmacogenomics.

2. Cardiotoxicity of anti-cancer therapeutics

2.1. Anthracyclines

Anthracyclines are anticancer agents initially isolated from natural sources. Daunorubicin and doxorubicin (DOX) are anthracyclines isolated from *Streptomyces peucetius*, a soil-dwelling bacterium, and from a mutated strain of the same bacterium, respectively (Arcamone et al., 1969; Di Marco et al., 1981). Other commonly used anthracyclines include epirubicin and idarubicin (Espinosa et al., 2003). Anthracyclines exert their action primarily through topoisomerase $2-\alpha$ (TOP2A) inhibition. Topoisomerases are enzymes that cause double stranded DNA breaks that serve to relax DNA supercoiling during DNA replication and transcription. Anthracyclines prevent TOP2A from dissociating from DNA after making a cut, preventing re-ligation. Anthracyclines also directly intercalate with DNA, induce the formation of reactive oxygen species, and modulate histone-DNA binding. Together these effects ultimately lead to programmed cell death (Champoux, 2001).

DOX has been in use for over five decades as the backbone of chemotherapy treatment regimens for a wide range of adult and pediatric cancers such as breast cancer, leukemia, and lymphomas. Although DOX treatment has contributed to an increase in the 5-year survival rate in children to more than 80% (Lipshultz et al., 2008), severe dose-dependent cardiotoxicity occurs in about 50% of treated patients (Swain et al., 2003) and leads to dose limitation or treatment discontinuation. About 26% of patients treated with an accumulative DOX dose of 550 mg/m² experienced heart failure, and the maximum life time cumulative dose is thus limited to 400 to 550 mg/m², decreasing the benefits that patients may receive form this potent drug (Swain et al., 2003; Wouters et al., 2005). Notably, up to 65% of pediatric cancer survivors treated with DOX develop measureable impairment in cardiac function, even when treated with less than the maximum recommended DOX doses (van der Pal et al., 2010). As many as 16% of children with these abnormalities will develop subsequent clinical heart failure with a mortality rate as high as 72%. Although DOX has been used for more than 50 years, the mechanism by which it induces cardiotoxicity remains unclear.

2.2. Small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs)

The protein kinase gene family comprises one of the biggest gene families in the human genome, with more than 538 identified protein kinase encoding genes. Protein kinases play a crucial role in various cellular processes including metabolism, transcription, cell movement, and intercellular communication. With more than 90 members, tyrosine kinases (TKs) constitute a large sub-family of protein kinases; TKs are enzymes responsible for physiologically reversible polypeptide phosphorylation through the transfer of a phosphate moiety from ATP to tyrosine residues, and thus regulate signaling pathways involved in cancer progression (Manning et al., 2002; López-Otín & Hunter, 2010). Based on this fact, several TK inhibitors (TKIs) have been developed as anti-cancer agents to treat a wide range of cancers including leukemia, breast cancer, renal cell carcinoma, and gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Cardiovascular toxicity has been observed in patients treated with a wide-range of TKIs, and 25 of the 27 currently FDA approved oncology TKIs have some type of cardiovascular toxicity-related warning in their package insert (accessdata.fda.gov).

Imatinib was one of the first small molecules developed to inhibit TKs, targeting the fusion protein breakpoint cluster region-ABL protooncogene 1 (BCR-ABL1) tyrosine kinase. Imatinib was approved in 2001 to treat Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph⁺) chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), contributing to a better than 90% 5-year survival rate (Druker et al., 2001, 2006). The first cardiovascular adverse effect associated with imatinib therapy was reported by Kerkelä et al. They showed that ten individuals who had normal left ventricular function before receiving imatinib, experienced class 3-4 heart failure approximately 7 months after imatinib therapy (Kerkelä et al., 2006). Studies performed in mouse models showed that one possible mechanism for imatinib-induced cardiotoxicity may occur via endoplasmic reticulum stress response-induced pro-death pathway activation including c-Jun N-terminal kinases (INKs) activation, which leads to subtle alterations in mitochondrial function and cardiomyocyte death. Since the initial report, several studies have implicated imatinib in cardiovascular adverse events (Demetri, 2007; Herman et al., 2011; Toubert et al., 2011).

Imatinib was followed by second generation TKIs including dasatinib, nilotinib, and bosutinib. Dasatinib, a second generation BCR-ABL1 TKI was introduced following the dasatinib versus imatinib comparison study in treatment-naive CML patients (DASISION), which demonstrated that dasatinib (100 mg once daily) resulted in faster and deeper molecular responses compared with imatinib (400 mg once daily). However, this did not translate into better overall survival rate (Jabbour et al., 2014). Acquired resistance to TKIs is caused by the formation of a polymorphic BCR-ABL1 oncogene, which decreases the binding affinity of TKIs. On that basis, Griffin et al. successfully developed a second generation BCR-ABL1 TKI, nilotinib, which is 30-fold more potent than imatinib. While its role as a first line of treatment is still under investigation, it is an excellent therapeutic candidate for patients harboring imatinib-resistant BCR-ABL1 mutants (Weisberg et al., 2005). Importantly, analysis of 2200 electrocardiograms from patients recruited in a dose escalation phase I study of nilotinib showed prolonged QT intervals, ranging from 5 to 15 ms, and thus close monitoring of arrhythmia and QT intervals has been recommended for patients treated with nilotinib (Kantarjian et al., 2006). Prolonged QT intervals could be explained by the inhibitory effect of nilotinib on human Ether-à-go-go-Related Gene (hERG or KCNH2), which encodes the alpha subunit of potassium ion channel (K_v11.1). K_v11.1 is responsible for delayed-rectifier K⁺ current in cardiac tissue, and blocking this ion channel by nilotinib results in QT wave disturbance (Shopp et al.,

2014). Additionally, nilotinib promotes caspase 3/7-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis, increases ROS production, and alters normal cardiomyocyte morphology, generating elongated cardiomyocytes with condensed nuclei (Doherty et al., 2013). Furthermore, vascular adverse events (VAEs) including rapidly progressive peripheral arterial occlusive disease (PAOD), myocardial infarction, and sudden death have been reported in CML patients treated with nilotinib (Aichberger et al., 2011; Giles et al., 2013). Although nilotinib and imatinib share common targets, the incidence of undesired vascular events is much lower in patients treated with imatinib when compared to patients treated with nilotinib. This indicates that the correlation of nilotinib with VAEs is most likely due to off-target rather than on-target effects. Presumably nilotinib has a direct effect on vascular and pre-vascular tissue, causing quick development of VAEs after exposure to nilotinib. Nilotinib has a proatherogenic effect on vascular tissue, promoting arterial stenosis and vasospasm. In conjunction with the increased cholesterol and fasting glucose levels associated with nilotinib, these conditions may trigger VAEs (Valent et al., 2015). Multiple prospective, retrospective, and meta-analysis studies have reported multiple cardiotoxic events following nilotinib treatment. However, incidence rate varies greatly among these studies, ranging from 1.3% to 35.7%. This discrepancy could be explained by different cardiovascular endpoints and disparate classification criteria used to define these endpoints from one trial to another

Bosutinib is an oral second generation TKI which targets BCR-ABL1 along with SRC proto-oncogene (SRC) and is used in imatinib-resistant CML patients. Despite its acceptable tolerability, 10% of patients treated with bosutinib experienced a cardiac adverse event, with the major clinical manifestation being hypertension (Brümmendorf et al., 2015). Ponatinib is a third generation TKI with a broad inhibitory profile against SRC, fibroblast growth factor receptors (FGFRs), plateletderived growth factor receptors (PDGFRA and PDGFRB), and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1-3 (VEGFR1-3), in addition to BCR-ABL1. The incidence of ponatinib-induced cardiotoxicity is directly correlated with the length of follow-up monitoring. The incidence rate of cumulative cardiovascular events increased from 6% after a median follow-up of 12 months to 10% after a median follow-up of 28 months. Similar to bosutinib, ponatinib treatment induced hypertension in 26% of patients, most likely due to ponatinib's VEGFR inhibitory action (Moslehi & Deininger, 2015). The VEGF signaling pathway plays an important role in preserving the activity and structure of vascular endothelium by activating the PI3K-AKT pathway. Stimulation of VEGFR2 activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and protein kinase B (AKT1), which propagates a pro-survival signal, endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS3), and boosts the production of potent vasodilators such as prostacyclin (PGI₂). Accordingly, inhibition of the VEGF signaling cascade triggers endothelial cell apoptosis, decreases capillary density and capillary dilatory response, creating a phenotype known as microvascular rarefaction (Bair et al., 2013).

Sunitinib and sorafenib are multi-kinase inhibitors that target several TKs involved in cancer cell proliferation and angiogenesis. While sunitinib targets VEGFR1-3, PDGFRA/B, KIT proto-oncogene receptor tyrosine kinase (KIT), FMS-related tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3), and colony stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF1R), sorafenib targets intracellular RAF kinases, Raf-1 proto-oncogene, serine/threonine kinase (RAF1), B-Raf proto-oncogene, serine/threonine kinase (BRAF) and mutant BRAF, and the cell surface kinase receptors (VEGFR2/3, PDGFRB, KIT, and FLT3) (Orphanos et al., 2009). Sunitinib and sorafenib are each associated with distinct cardiac adverse events. Sunitinib is associated with a reduction in LVEF and congestive heart failure with incidence rates of 11% and 8%, respectively. Sorafebin treatment results in ischemic heart diseases including myocardial infarction in 3% of treated patients (Chu et al., 2007; Palmer, 2008). Additionally, both TKIs are associated with atrial thromboembolism and hypertension. A meta-analysis including data from 9387 patients reported that patients treated with either sunitinib or sorafenib showed a three-fold higher risk of developing atrial thromboembolism (Choueiri et al., 2010). Finally, in addition to the involvement of endothelin 1 (EDN1) in sunitinib–, sorafenib– and ponatinib–induced hypertension, all three TKIs share a similar VEGF signaling pathway-linked mechanism of hypertension propagation (Kappers et al., 2010).

2.3. Monoclonal antibodies

During the last decade, the progress achieved in the field of molecular biology has led to the development of targeted anticancer biologics such as monoclonal antibodies, including: rituximab, which targets the B lymphocyte antigen membrane spanning 4-domains A1 (MS4A1 or CD20); trastuzumab, an antibody raised against erbb2 receptor tyrosine kinase 2 (ERBB2 or HER2); and bevacizumab, which targets vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA). These directed anticancer agents are currently widely used and constitute three of the leading chemotherapy revenues in the USA. Bevacizumab and trastuzumab revenues in 2014/2015 in the USA alone were \$3 billion and \$2.4 billion, respectively (statista.com). Despite their broad utilization in cancer treatment, FAERS database reported that between 2004 and 2010, trastuzumab had highest number of cardiotoxicity reports, followed by bevacizumab (Wittayanukorn et al., 2015).

Trastuzumab is a monoclonal antibody that was approved in 1998 for use in breast cancer patients with ERBB2 overexpression. A multicenter randomized trial conducted by Piccart-Gebhart et al. showed that although one year of trastuzumab treatment improved survival rate by 50% and decreased recurrence by 33%, multiple occurrences of cardiotoxicity events were also reported (Piccart-Gebhart et al., 2005). All patients were prescreened for cardiac exclusion criteria before being recruited in the trial. However, 7.08% of patients displayed decreased LVEF (>10% from baseline to an LVEF of less than 50% at any time) and 1.73% of patients suffered from symptomatic severe CHF. These percentages were recorded after only 12 months of median follow-up, and thus higher incidence rates are expected with longer follow-up terms. Guarneri et al. reported that after longer term followup (median 32.6 months), 28% of patients experienced cardiac adverse events including decline in LVEF and CHF, (Guarneri et al., 2006). ERBB2 plays an important role in preserving cardiac function in the adult heart (Crone et al., 2002). Neuregulins, which are endogenous ligands that activate ERBB2, have been shown to promote survival and growth of cardiac myocytes (Zhao et al., 1998). Furthermore, ERBB2-deficient mice exhibit a dilated cardiomyopathy phenotype. Dysregulation of ERBB2 expression by trastuzumab is associated with severe cardiotoxic phenotypes. Taken together, these findings emphasize the crucial role of an ERBB2 signaling pathway in the development of cardiotoxicity.

Bevacizumab was approved in 2004 as an angiogenesis inhibitor, and it exerts its action by inhibiting VEGFA tyrosine kinase activity, thus blocking the blood supply to tumor cells. As a result of VEGFA inhibition, the production of the natural vasodilator, nitric oxide, is reduced, stimulating vasoconstriction of blood vessels and increasing the risk of hypertension. A meta-analysis of seven trials comprising 1850 patients treated with bevacizumab demonstrated that bevacizumab is significantly associated with dose-dependent hypertension with relative risks of 3% and 7.5% for low and high doses, respectively (Zhu et al., 2007). The incidences of heart failure and cardiomyopathy after bevacizumab treatment are as low as 2.2% and 3%, however the duration of patient follow-ups in this study was only 18 months (Miller et al., 2005). Considering that hypertension is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular events, cardiotoxicity is therefore highly anticipated with long-term follow up. Bevacizumab-induced hypertension, along with VEGFA signaling inhibition, have been shown to trigger decompensated heart failure (Chen et al., 2008).

2.4. Alkylating agents

Alkylating agents including nitrogen mustards (cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide) and the platinum-containing molecule, cisplatin, are the oldest class of anticancer agents. They exert their action via binding to negatively charged DNA sites, causing DNA strand breaks and DNA strand cross-linking (Espinosa et al., 2003). Cyclophosphamide was introduced in 1958 following early observations that mustard gas reduces peripheral blood lymphocytes and nitrogen-mustard derivatives have cytotoxic properties. Cyclophosphamide is a prodrug which upon activation forms an alkylating molecule that binds to DNA and causes inter- and intra-strand DNA breaks, resulting in the inhibition of DNA replication and increased cellular apoptosis (Povirk & Shuker, 1994). High doses of cyclophosphamide are associated with cardiotoxicity and a reversible decrease in systolic function Cyclophosphamide-induced clinical manifestations of cardiotoxicity include pericardial effusions, myopericarditis and heart failure. Notably, 25% of patients treated with cyclophosphamide doses \geq 1.55 g/m²/day exhibited irreversible heart failure. Ifosfamide, a synthetic analog of cyclophosphamide which shares a similar mechanism of action, is also associated with dose-dependent acute cardiac toxicity in 17% of patients (Yeh & Bickford, 2009). Cisplatin was the first platinum-containing alkylating agent approved to treat several types of cancer. Cisplatin treatment is associated with undesirable vascular events including deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism in 12.9% of patients suffering from urothelial transitional cell carcinoma (Czaykowski et al., 1998). Importantly, cisplatin is associated with late-onset cardiotoxicity. Patients treated with cisplatin develop clinical cardiac events (myocardial infarction and angina pectoris) and subclinical disturbance in systolic LVEF with incidence rates of 6% and 33%, respectively, 10 to 20 years after initial treatment with cisplatin (Meinardi et al., 2000).

2.5. Taxanes

Taxanes are another group of chemotherapeutics isolated from natural sources. Paclitaxel and docetaxel are isolated from Taxus brevifolia and Taxus baccata, respectively, (Wani et al., 1971; Bissery et al., 1991) and are used in the treatment of breast, ovarian, and non-small cell lung cancers. Both taxanes exert their action in the cell by binding to microtubules, promoting microtubule polymerization and inactivation, eventually inhibiting cell division. The most common cardiac events associated with this class of anticancer agents are arrhythmia and cardiac ischemia. Paclitaxel treatment causes bradycardia in 30% of patients and cardiac ischemia in 5% of treated patients, while docetaxel is associated with myocardial ischemia, occurring at an incidence of 1.7%. Coadministration of paclitaxel and doxorubicin has been shown to significantly increase the incidence of CHF to 20%. Presumably, this is due to increasing plasma levels of doxorubicin, thereby boosting the intracellular concentration of the DOX toxic metabolite, doxorubicinol, in cardiomyocytes (Giordano et al., 2002).

3. Patient-specific toxicity: pharmacogenomics and personalized medicine

Achieving a tolerable balance between efficacy and toxicity is the most important challenge facing effective chemotherapy treatment. Our knowledge of the pharmacogenomics of chemotherapeutic agents is progressing rapidly. An individual patient's response to chemotherapy is dependent on the plasma and target site concentration of the anticancer drugs, which are controlled by pharmacokinetics (absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion, ADME) and pharmacodynamics factors. Inherited polymorphisms in drug metabolizing enzymes and transporters can alter their expression and/or activity, influencing pharmacokinetics. Genetic alterations in target enzymes, transporters, ion channels and receptors may influence drug pharmacodynamics (Evans & McLeod, 2003). Thus, a realistic option to improve management and outcome of chemotherapy-induced toxicity is the development of individualized treatment strategies including the use of predictive genetic host factors. Extensive efforts in pharmacogenomics research have been conducted in an attempt to uncover the genetic variants associated with chemotherapy clinical outcome. Despite this enormous effort, few biomarkers are routinely used in clinical practice, which reflects the complexity of identifying causal variants. Currently there are more than 150 drugs with FDA approved pharmacogenetic testing information in their drug labels, the majority of which are anticancer agents (Fig. 1) (fda.gov).

Although the terms, "phamacogenetic" and "genetic" testing are used interchangeably, there is a significant difference in their target population and the manner in which each test is used in clinical investigation. Pharmacogenetic testing targets subjects experiencing a specific disease. This method is used to provide guidance in selecting the appropriate therapeutic agent, and in some instances, with the presence of sufficient clinical data, for individualized dosing selection. On the other hand, genetic testing is utilized when assessing a relative risk of a target population to develop a certain disease, as well as when predicting patients' prognoses.

Similarly, somatic (tumor) and germline (individual) mutations are two types of genetic mutations involved in predicting cancer outcome. Somatic mutations are genetic variations in the tumor tissue which affect tumor microenvironment and determine the cancer profile including prognosis, metastasis and aggressiveness. Studying somatic mutations will be beneficial not only in predicting disease prognosis, but also in developing tumor-specific therapeutics that are capable of targeting particular oncogenic aberrations. Germline mutations are genetic variants in a patients' genome. Inherited mutations in drug transporters and/or drug metabolizing enzymes determine the concentration of drug at the target site, subsequently tuning the efficacy and toxicity of cancer therapeutics. Additionally, germline mutations in certain signaling pathways (e.g., genes controlling DNA repair machinery, cell division, and reprogramming) may cause a predisposition to cancer. Therefore, the study of germline aberrations has significant prognostic value. Accordingly, obtaining informative genetic information about both germline and somatic polymorphisms will ideally allow us to draw conclusive decisions about disease prognoses and adequate therapeutics (Hertz & McLeod, 2013).

Pharmacogenomic studies principally adapt a case control studybased design, in which frequencies of genetic variants, mainly single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), are detected and compared in cases (subjects with the investigated phenotype) and controls (subjects



Fig. 1. FDA-approved pharmacogenomics biomarker in drug labeling. Bar plot diagram showing number of drugs that contain pharmacogenetic testing information in their package insert, and their distribution across different therapeutic areas (n = 158).

without the investigated phenotype). Genomic research has accommodated two main approaches: (1) candidate gene studies in which a single gene or a list of well-founded, preselected genes are investigated, and (2) genome wide association studies (GWAS) in which genetic variations across the whole genome are analyzed and linked to the investigated phenotype. In terms of the number of SNPs investigated, both genomic study approaches are quite different. Candidate gene studies investigate anywhere from one SNP to a complete gene sequence, while GWAS analyze a range of several hundred thousand to millions of SNPs.

The momentous advances in the field of next generation sequencing, analysis algorithms, and data storage capacity, coupled with the experimental evidences revealing the role of genetic variation in various diseases, have shifted the paradigm towards whole genome studies to help identify SNPs that protect against or predispose individuals to different clinical conditions and phenotypic traits. The number of GWAS published reports has dramatically increased over the last decade from less than 50 studies in 2006 to about 2000 studies in 2013 (Welter et al., 2014). GWAS are based on the principle of linkage disequilibrium (LD), which exists when two or more SNPs at discrete loci are found together more frequently than would likely happen by chance. Accordingly, analyzing only a selected set of tag-SNPs across the genome to act as surrogates for several other linked SNPs gives complete information about the un-typed SNPs. The linkage disequilibrium-based approach is very useful as it significantly decreases the number of genotyped SNPs while providing information about the descent number of genetic variants. Nevertheless, this methodology raises the question of whether or not the identified SNP is the causal one. Even though the linkage disequilibrium-based genome wide study is an appropriate tool for mapping Mendelian traits that are predisposed due to the segregation of risk alleles within a single gene, it is not as efficient when it comes to polygenic traits like CIC. Multiple genes are implicated in CIC and it thus becomes nearly impossible to identify causal SNPs with just a single association study (Botstein & Risch, 2003). Population stratification constitutes a major limitation for GWAS, as heterogeneous subject recruitment significantly affects the output of pharmacogenomic studies. Ethnically diverse populations have different LD profiles caused by distinct recombination rates. Thus, SNPs having significantly different minor allele frequencies exist among diverse populations. An exemplary African population has very short LD haplotypes because of cumulative recombination events which make it even more difficult to capture the causal polymorphisms (Reich et al., 2001). Because minor differences in ethnicity between cases and controls can result in false positives even after exclusion of extreme outliers, an odds ratio of at least 2-3 is required for an association to be robust enough to overcome cryptic population stratification. Odds ratios <1.5 are questionable regardless of the P-value (McClellan & King, 2010). Failure to identify large insertions and deletions is considered another GWAS limitation as GWAS primarily focus on single base pair alterations rather than larger genetic mutations. Importantly, the majority of identified GWAS SNPs are located in intergenic or intronic regions and in many instances in genes which are irrelevant to the studied phenotype, where the biological relevance of identified polymorphisms is far from being welldescribed.

4. Pharmacogenomics of doxorubicin

Following the administration of DOX, 50% of the dose is excreted unchanged and the remainder is metabolized intracellularly, where DOX undergoes a two-electron reduction to yield the secondary alcohol doxorubicinol (DOX-ol). DOX and DOX-ol then undergo reductase glycosidation and hydrolase glycosidation, yielding DOX deoxyaglycone or doxorubicinole from DOX, and DOX-ol hydroxyaglycone or doxorubicinolone (DOX-olone) from DOX-ol , respectively, while also forming semiquionone as an intermediate metabolite (Licata et al., 2000; Joerger et al., 2005). Several metabolizing enzymes are involved in this metabolic pathway. Carbonyl reductase 1 (CBR1), carbonyl reductase 3 (CBR3), aldo-keto reductase 1A (AKR1A) and aldo-keto reductase 1C3 (AKR1C3) are responsible for the conversion of DOX into DOX-ol. Mitochondrial NADH dehydrogenases present in the sarcoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria including NDUFS2, NDUFS3, and NDUFS7, as well as cytosolic enzymes such as NADPH dehydrogenase (NQO1), xanthine oxidase (XDH) and nitric oxide synthases (NOS1, NOS2, and NOS3) catalyze the reduction of DOX to the DOXsemiquinone metabolite.

Many genes contribute to DIC, and the cardiotoxicity phenotype is thus apparently due to a combination of four major molecular mechanisms. (1) Serving as electron acceptor, the quinone aromatic ring shared among DOX metabolites promptly takes part in oxidation-reduction reactions, resulting in generation of O₂- and H₂O₂ and the formation of downstream iron-dependent and independent reactive oxygen species (ROS). (2) DOX causes mitochondrial dysregulation via an irreversible mitochondrial transition pore (MTP) or BCL2-associated X protein (BAX) and BCL2 like 1 (BCL2L1) triggered CYCS (cytochrome c) release which ultimately form the apoptosome complex (Minotti et al., 2004). Mitochondria are a key player in the development of cardiotoxicity because of their abundance in adult cardiac cell, occupying approximately 30% of cardiomyocyte cell volume. Additionally, mitochondria contribute to about 90% of ATP production in cardiomyocytes, thus making the heart much more vulnerable to DOX insults (Piquereau et al., 2013). (3) DOX inhibits the topoisomerase II- β (TOP2B) re-ligation reaction in cardiomyocytes, consequently inducing DNA double-strand break-triggered cell apoptosis. (4) DOX activates ryanodine receptor 2 (RYR2), leading to calcium release in the cell. Furthermore, DOX blocks ATPase sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ transporting 2 (SERCA2 or ATP2A2), preventing calcium re-uptake.

Different genetic and non-genetic factors are known to influence the balance between DOX efficacy and toxicity. Several non-genetic factors have been reported to significantly influence the incidence rates of DIC. Females are more prone to develop DIC compared to males. Patients less than 4 years and more than 65 years old showed a higher incidence of DIC. Higher cumulative DOX doses and chronic conditions including hypertension, liver diseases, and cardiac diseases are associated with higher risk of DIC (Octavia et al., 2012).

Experimental and clinical studies have identified several associations between genetic polymorphisms and DOX response or toxicity. Table 1 summarizes the findings of pharmacogenomic studies conducted and genetic variants associated with DOX clinical outcome. The vast majority of these studies are candidate gene approach-based in which only a small number of SNPs were investigated. Few trials have investigated a reasonable number of SNPs located within genes that have been implicated in DOX response and/or toxicity (Table 1).

To date, only four GWAS investigating DOX clinical outcome have been conducted, one of which focused on DOX-induced febrile neutropenia in cancer patients. In this study, 16,561 SNPs in drug transporter and metabolic genes implicated in neutropenia were genotyped in 155 French breast cancer patients who were tested for association with severe neutropenia (Callens et al., 2015). The other three studies were directed towards DIC and investigated 650,000, 4578, and 2977 SNPs, respectively. An early study probing 2977 SNPs in 220 key drug biotransformation genes (Visscher et al., 2012), and a more recent GWAS (Aminkeng et al., 2015) investigating >650,000 SNPs was carried out in patients receiving DOX in order to identify novel risk alleles for DIC. These GWAS revealed significant risk and protective alleles. However, due to multiple testing issues and limitations in gene coverage, these results do not exclude the existence of additional predictive polymorphisms in well-defined candidate genes.

DOX pharmacogenomic studies have revealed associations within genes that play different roles in DIC. Interestingly 45% of identified SNPs are located in genes encoding transporter proteins, indicating that DOX transportation across cellular membrane is accomplished through several transporters. The rest of the genes are distributed as

Table 1
Representative doxorubicin pharmacogenomics studies.

Classification of the studies by No. of SNPs	Study	No. of analyzed SNPs	Gene	Chr	Polymorphism	Location/residue change	Clinical outcome	No. of patients (age)	Population	Treatment regimen	Cancer
0–50 SNPs	(Lal et al., 2008)	4	ABCB1	7	rs1128503 rs2032582 (tri-allelic)	E12/Gly412Gly E21/Ser893Ala/Thr	Higher Cmax Lowe CL (T-allele)	62	ASI	DOX	Breast
	(Jordheim et al., 2015)	38	CBR1	22	rs20572 rs9024	E3/Ala209 = 3'UTR (associated with lower CBR1 hepatic expression and activity (Gonzalez- Covarrubias et al., 2009)	Severe thrombocytopenia and diarrhea	760	French	R-CHOP	Lymphoma
			ABCB1	7	rs2229109	E12/Ser400Asn	Severe vomiting and diarrhea				
	(Voon et al., 2013)	9	AKR1C3	10	rs1937840 rs1937841	14 14	Lower OS & PFS Protective against neutropenia	151	Female Asian	DOX/DOC	Breast
			CBR3	21	rs8133052	E1/Cys4Tyr	Longer OS & lower				
			ABCB1	7	rs2032582 (tri-allelic)	E21/Ser893Ala/Thr	Higher CL (T-allele)				
			SLC22A16	6	rs6907567	E2/Asn104=	Hematological toxicity				
	(Fan et al., 2008)	18	CBR3	21	rs8133052	E1/Cys4Tyr	Lower AUC & hematological toxicity	99 (26-68)	Female Asian	DOX/DOC	Breast
	(Bray et al., 2010)	17	SLC22A16	6	rs12210538	E5/Met409Thr	Leucopenia & greater incidence of dose delay	230	European	DOX/Cyc	Breast
					rs714368 rs6907567	E2/His49Arg (associated with higher DOX exposure (Lal et al., 2007) E2/Asn104 =	Lower incidence of dose delay				
			ABCB1	7	rs2032582	E4/Val252Ala E21/Ser893Ala/Thr	Shorter TTP &OS				
	(Krajinovic et al.,	33	ABCC5	3	rs7627754	5'UTR	Cardiotoxicity	251	Caucasian	$\text{DOX} \pm \text{DRZ}$	ALL
	2015)		INO23	/	rs1/99983	E7/Glu298Asp	protective against cardiotoxicity	(children)			
	(Lal et al., 2007)	4	SLC22A16	6	rs714368	E2/His49Arg	Higher exposure to DOX and DOX-ol	43	Female Asian	DOX	Breast
	(Visscher et al., 2013)	23	SLC28A3 SULT2B1	9 19	rs7853758 rs10426377	E14/Leu461Leu I3	Protective against severe	521	Mixed	DOX-based anthracycline	Mixed

							1				
			UGT1A6	2	rs6759892	E1/ Ser7Ala	cardiotoxicity Cardiotoxicity				
			ABCB4		rs1149222 rs4148808						
	(Blanco et al., 2012)	2	CBR3	21	rs1056892	E3/Val244Met	Cardiotoxicity	487	Mixed	DOX-based anthracycline	Mixed
	(Rajić et al., 2009)	5	CAT	11	rs10836235	I1	Cardiotoxicity	76 (<16)	Caucasian	DOX-based anthracycline	ALL
	(Ikeda et al., 2015)	2	ABCB1	7	rs2032582 (tri-allelic)	E21/Ser893Ala/Thr	Neutropenia	141 (>20)	Japanese	DOX/CYC	Breast
	(Tulsyan et al., 2013)	3	GSTP1	11	rs1695	Ile105Val	Severe anemia	207	Indian	Anthracycline	Breast
	(Hertz et al., 2016)	27	ABCB1	7	rs1045642	lle1145lle	Protective against severe cardiotoxicity	166	White	DOX	Breast
			CBR3	21	rs1056892	V244 M	Severe cardiotoxicity				
	(Gregers et al., 2015)	4	ABCB1	7	rs2229109		High risk of relapse	522	Nordic Caucasian	DOX/Prednisolone/vincristine	ALL
	(***)*****				rs1045642	lle1145lle	Low risk of relapse and severe bone marrow toxicity	(children)		- ,	
50-1000	(Yao et al., 2014)	78	ABCC1	16	rs903880	17	Severe	882 (≥18)	Mixed	DOX/CYC	Breast
SNPs					rs16967126	16	hematological		(EU83%,AA8%,5%AS,4%other)		
					rs4148350	I15	toxicity				
	(Woinowski et al.,	206	RAC2	22	rs13058338	13	Severe	1697	German	CHOP	NHL
	2005)		CYBA	22	rs4673	E4/Tvr72His	Cardiotoxicity	(18 - 72)			
			NCF4	22	rs1883112	5'UTR	, and the second s				
			ABCC1	16	rs45511401	E16/Gly671Val					
			ABCC2	10	rs8187694	Val1188Glu					
					rs8187710	Cys1515Tyr					
	(Hagleitner et al.,	384	MSH2	2	rs4638843	I13	Lower 5-year PFS	190	Caucasian	DOX/Cisplatin/MTX	osteosarcoma
	2015)		ABCC5	3	rs939338	15	0			, r	
	,		CASP3	4	rs2720376	I4					
1000-20.000	(Callens et al., 2015)	16.561	SLC01A2	12	rs4762699	12	Severe Febrile	155 (18–70)	French women	DOX/Doc	Breast
SNPs	(rs2857468	12	neutropenia				
	(Visscher et al.,	2977	SLC28A3	9	rs7853758	E14/Leu461Leu	Protective against	344	Canadian	DOX-based anthracycline	Mixed
	2012)		FMO2	1	rs2020870	E2/Asp36Glv	severe		[EU (77%) and non-EU		
			SPG7	16	rs2019604	112	cardiotoxicity		(23%)]		
			SLC10A2	13	rs9514091	11	j		(==)]		
			SLC28A3	9	rs4877847	I1					
			UGT1A6	2	rs6759892	E1/Ser7Ala	Cardiotoxicity				
			ABCB4	7	rs1149222	I10	curatoronnency				
			ABCC1	16	rs4148350	I15					
			HNMT	2	rs17583889	12					
	(Visscher et al	4578	SIC22A17	6	rs4982753	3'I ITR	Protective against	562	Mixed	DOX-based anthracycline	Mixed
	2015)	1070	52022/117	0	rs4149178	110	Severe	2.32	milled	2011 Susce untillacycliffe	
	2010)				rs2857468	12	cardiotoxicity				
>20.000	(Aminkeng et al	657 694	RARG	12	rs2229774	E10/Ser427Leu	Severe	456	Canadian [EU(82%) and	DOX-based anthracycline	Mixed
SNPs	2015)	007,001	ivino.	12		213/301127204	Cardiotoxicity	(children)	non-EU(18%)]	2 S. C. Suber until ucyclift	macu

AA: African American, EU: European, AS: Asian, NHL: non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, CHOP: cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristin, and prednisone, PFS: progression-free survival, OS: overall survival, PFS: progression free survival, DOX: doxorubicin, DOC: docetaxel, TTP: time to progression, ALL: acute lymphoblastic leukemia, DRZ: dexrazoxane.



Fig. 2. Classification of genes harboring SNPs associated with DOX clinical outcome by class. Pie chart diagram showing the distribution of SNPs associated with DOX clinical outcome across different gene families.

follows: 27% are located in oxidative stress related genes, 19% are located in DOX metabolizing enzymes and 9% are located in genes involved in DNA repair and replication (Fig. 2).

SNPs implicated in DOX clinical outcome are of significantly different global minor allele frequency (GMAF) ranging from 0.013 (SNP rs2229109) to 0.486 (SNP rs4877847), located in transporter encoding genes, *SLC28A3* and *ABCB1*, respectively (Table 1 and Fig. 3). Furthermore, each individual SNP has diverse minor allele frequency (MAF) among different populations. Having considered that a SNP which is monomorphic in a certain population may be polymorphic in other populations and that the power to detect true genetic associations is in part dependent on tested a SNP's MAF (Ardlie et al., 2002), it is crucial to recruit homogenous patient cohorts for both exploration and replication approaches. Additionally, these *data* suggest that population-dependent genetic biomarker screening should be seriously considered.

Although pharmacogenomics research has identified significant association within several genes related to DIC, many other genes shown to be involved in DIC need to be intensively investigated. Examples of such genes include: *ABCC2*, *ABCG2*, *RALBP1*, *AKR1A1*, *CSL1*, *SOD3*, *TP53*, *TOP2B*, *PPARGC1A* (*PGC-1* α), *PPARGC1B* (*PGC-1* β), *PPARA*, *PPARD*, and *CYP2J2*. *ABCC2*, encoding transporter protein MRP2, plays a role in DOX chemoresistance, and knocking down *MRP2* expression increases the cell's sensitization towards DOX via increasing DOX intracellular accumulation (Folmer et al., 2007). DOX is a substrate of the ABCG2 transporter, and interestingly, a mutant variant of *ABCG2* alters substrate specificity and increases DOX resistance *in vitro* (Stacy et al., 2013). *RALBP1*, the gene encoding RalA-binding protein 1, plays an important role in the regulation of intracellular concentration of DOX and its electrophilic cytotoxic metabolite, glutathione-4-hydroxy-t-nonenal (GS-



SNPs associated with doxorubicin clinical outcome

Fig. 3. Global minor allele frequency distribution of DOX genetic polymorphisms. Diagram showing global minor allele frequency (GMAF) of SNPs significantly associated with DOX clinical outcome, which demonstrates that individual SNPs have significantly different allelic frequency in diverse populations. GMAF was adapted according to 1000 genomes project data base. This analysis was done using R/Bioconductor package biomaRt (Durinck et al., 2009).

HNE) (Chaiswing et al., 2005). RALBP1 protects the cell against oxidative stress, and its deletion increases cell sensitivity to DOX (Vatsyayan et al., 2009). The AKR1A1 gene encodes an aldo-keto reductase enzyme, and it is responsible for the conversion of DOX into its alcohol metabolite, DOXol, which is linked to the development of cardiotoxicity (Mordente et al., 2009). Genetic polymorphisms in AKR1A1 have been shown to alter its metabolic activity (Bains et al., 2008). CSL1 encodes cardiolipin synthase 1, which is essential for the synthesis tetraacylphospholipid in mitochondria (Houtkooper & Vaz, 2008). DOX binds irreversibly to cardiolipin, forming a very stable complex at the mitochondrial inner membrane in cardiomyocytes, thus inhibiting many mitochondrial enzymes and leading to mitochondrial dysregulation and eventually cardiotoxicity (Goormaghtigh et al., 1987). Superoxide dismutase (SOD3) is an antioxidant enzyme that protects the cell from oxidative stress generated by DOX. SOD3 is downregulated in patients treated with DOX who experienced DIC compared to patients who did not experience any DIC, indicating its role in DIC precipitation (Burridge et al., 2016). TOP2B is another well-founded candidate gene in relation to DIC. DOX binds to TOP2B and DNA, forming a stable ternary complex and causing double-strand DNA breaks which in turn trigger cell death. Cardiac specific deletion of TOP2B in mice has a cardioprotective effect, presumably through maintaining normal expression of transcriptional coactivators PGC-1 α and PGC-1 β . PGC-1 α and PGC-1 β bind to nuclear receptors PPARA and PPARD, facilitating their binding to transcription factors that regulate genes involved in downstream mitochondrial biogenesis (Finck & Kelly, 2007). Interestingly, CYP2/2 over expression activates PPARA which subsequently enhances the activity of the ROS scavenger enzymes CAT and SOD, ultimately protecting the cells against DIC (Wray et al., 2009).

Despite the efforts and partial successes of many research groups to identify genetic polymorphisms associated with DOX clinical outcome, these studies were hampered by small sample sizes, inhomogeneous patient cohorts, nonsystematic genetic analysis, and mostly lacked any functional validation. Furthermore, DOX-related cardiotoxicity appears to be a polygenic trait, and single SNP-based association tests ignore synergistic and antagonistic effects between different genes polymorphisms. Most pharmacogenomics studies lack any downstream mechanistic validation and thus, the impact of SNPs on the biological system and the relationships between identified SNPs and DIC are poorly understood. Importantly, elucidation of causal mechanisms leading to SNP-associated DOX toxicity and functional changes are important for potential future DOX dosing recommendations. Testing for the causal variants will guarantee that the best possible clinical associations will be detected, however, identification of causal variants can be a challenging task. All of these observations taken together, coupled with the fact that multiple neglected candidate genes need to be systematically examined in relation to DIC, emphasize the need for a comprehensive genetic approach to address these issues. It is necessary to validate

significant associations in large independent cohorts and conduct proper patient-specific functional studies for validation of SNPs implicated in DIC.

5. Pharmacogenomics of tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Eminent examples of the clinical usefulness of pharmacogenetics in oncology are imatinib, lapatinib and nilotinib. Imatinib specifically inhibits tyrosine kinase activity in patients suffering from myelodysplastic/myeloproliferative diseases (MDS/MPD) associated with platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) gene re-arrangements and patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Lapatinib as part of combinatorial therapy has been approved to treat human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) protein overexpression positive breast cancer patients. Patients carrying HLA alleles DQA1*02:01 and DRB1*07:01 showed severe lapatinib-induced hepatotoxicity, and consequently, testing for these mutations is essential before lapatinib treatment. Patients harboring the UGT1A1*28 allele have a significantly higher risk of developing hyperbilirubinemia as a result of nilotinib treatment. Despite the well-established evidence that TKI treatment causes cardiotoxicity, and the fact that the majority of TKIs have a black box warning for cardiac adverse events, there is no identified cardiotoxicity biomarker currently used in clinical routine investigation, further emphasizing the urgent need for a comprehensive whole genome-based approach to identify and validate candidate genetic variants related to TKIinduced cardiotoxicity.

6. Validation of chemotherapy induced cardiotoxicity associated single nucleotide polymorphisms

Validating the functional aspects of genetic associations is of great importance in the field of pharmacogenomics. The ultimate goal is not only to detect genetic variants associated with CIC, but also to determine the causality of such gene-disease relationships. Determining the causal SNP/haplotype for DIC will help introduce novel biomarkers for DIC into routine clinical practice. Additionally, identification of the causal genetic polymorphism(s) will be the basis for follow-up studies involving screening for novel cardioprotectants.

Existing methodologies, such as using myocardial biopsies to study the origin of DIC is impractical and invasive; in addition, adult cardiomyocytes cannot expand under *in vitro* culturing conditions, making biochemical assays difficult. The substantial physiological and genomic differences between humans and animals constitute a serious limitation for the usage of animal models to study DIC, and thus, conclusions based on animal studies cannot be directly translated to humans. All these factors accentuate the usefulness of developing a model which mimics the cardiac host microenvironment to study patientspecific responses to doxorubicin.

Patient-specific hiPSC-CMs represent a novel, evolving technology which has been successfully applied in modeling cardiovascular and metabolic diseases and screening drugs for efficacy and toxicity. Over the last decade, tremendous improvements have taken place in human somatic cell reprograming, hiPSC differentiation, and structural and functional phenotypic characterization of the developed hiPSC-CMs, all of which support the usage of hiPSC-CM in recapitulating



Fig. 4. Schematic diagram showing the multiple mechanisms of doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Genes associated with DOX clinical outcome are written in blue. Blue boxes show assays which identified a differentiation response between patients who had cardiotoxicity (DOXTOX) and patients who did not have toxicity (DOX) (Burridge et al., 2016), highlighting the fact that DOX related cardiotoxicity is a polygenic trait and thus, the comprehensive approach proposed in this project is needed to identify genetic biomarkers for DOX-induced cardiotoxicity. Doxorubicin (DOX), doxorubinol (DOX-ol), doxoerubicin-semiquinone (DOX-semiquinone), C7 centered radical aglycone (C7 radical), nitric oxide synthase 3 (NOS3), NADH dehydrogenases (collectively NAD(P)H oxidoreductases), P450 (cytochrome) oxidoreductase (POR), xanthine oxidase (XDH) superoxide radical $(O_2^{-\bullet})$, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), hydroxyl radical (OH•), nitric oxide (NO•), peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), glutathione (GSH), glutathione peroxide (GSH), glutathione disulfide (GSSG), peroxiredoxin (PRDX), myoglobin (MB), ferrous iron (Fe²⁺), ferric iron (Fe³⁺), dexrazoxane (DRZ), N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC), topoisomerase (DNA) 1 mitochondrial (TOP1MT), BCL2-associated X protein (BAX), cytochrome C (CYCS) tumor protein p53 (TP53), topoisomerase 2B (TOP2B), ryanodine receptor 2 (RYR2), ATPase, Ca²⁺ transporting, cardiac muscle slow twitch 2 (ATP2A2), myosin light chain (MYL), cardiac troponin T (TNNT), α -actinin (ACTA). Image modified from Burridge et al. (2016), used with permission.

patient specific disease phenotypes and pharmacological drug response. Cardiomyocytes generated from patient-specific hiPSCs have been well characterized and display characteristics similar to human cardiac tissue. The human heart shares common genomic and transcriptomic profiles with hiPSC-CMs in both continuous culture and following cryopreservation and thawing. hiPSC-CMs express cardiac markers such as: ion channels implicated in the action potential of the human heart (e.g.; SCN5A, KCNJ2, CACNA1C, KCNQ1, and KCNH2), cardiac tissue specific markers (MYH6, MYLPF, MYBPC3, DES, TNNT2, and TNNI3), and cardiac transcription factors (NKX2.5, GATA4, and GATA6). In addition, hiPSC-CMs do not express any pluripotency markers, indicating the purity of the generated cardiomyocytes. Furthermore, hiPSC-CMs exhibit similar electrophysiological, biochemical, contractile, and beating activity when compared with native cardiac myocytes (Ma et al., 2011; Babiarz et al., 2012; Puppala et al., 2013). Taken together, these observations support the superiority of an in vitro hiPSC-CM model in recapitulating human cardiac tissue when compared to animal models, nonhuman primary cells, and immortalized cell lines.

Using a chemically defined media, we have shown the feasibility and reproducibility of generating phenotypically characterized beating cardiomyocytes from hiPSCs with a cardiac differentiation efficiency of 85–95% (Burridge et al., 2011). Importantly, patient-derived hiPSC-CMs have been exploited to study the basal mechanisms and to provide fundamental understanding of the causality of long QT syndrome (LQTS) (Itzhaki et al., 2011; Malan et al., 2016), LEOPARD syndrome (Carvajal-Vergara et al., 2010), Timothy syndrome (Yazawa et al., 2011), arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy (ARVD/C) (Kim et al., 2013), dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) (Sun et al., 2012), Barth syndrome (Wang et al., 2014), and diabetic cardiomyopathy (Drawnel et al., 2014). We have recently demonstrated that patient derived hiPSC-CMs can recapitulate individual patients' predisposition to DIC (Burridge et al., 2016), providing a multi-assay-based platform for DIC phenotypic characterization. This platform includes assays to investigate cell viability, mitochondrial and metabolic function, calcium handling, and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, coupled with whole transcriptome analysis. From our findings, we were able to clearly discriminate between patients who are more susceptible to DIC compared to patients with lower susceptibility (Burridge et al., 2016). All these studies support the fact that hiPSC-CMs can be used to validate genetic variants that confer susceptibility to doxorubicin cardiotoxicity (Fig. 4).

7. Conclusion

The consistent advent of novel targeted chemotherapeutics indeed provides more effective treatment options and leads to great improvements in cancer cure rate. However, these gains come with the compromise of increased adverse drug events. Cardiotoxicity is a common established side effect of several anti-cancer agents including anthracyclines, small molecule TKIs, and monoclonal antibodies. Multiple pharmacogenomic studies adapting both candidate gene and genome wide approaches have tried and in part succeeded in identifying genetic variants associated with chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity. The vast majority of these trials have been hampered by different factors including the lack of any functional validation. Accordingly, genetic background and mechanistic explanation for chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity, as well as intra-individual variability across the population in susceptibility to cardiotoxic events, have yet to be determined. Considering all these facts, we believe that a comprehensive whole genome platform based on wide genome genotyping, patient-derived hiPSC-CMs, and utilization of CRISPR technology will help pinpoint robust genotype-phenotype associations and provide functional mechanistic validation for the involvement of candidate genes/SNP(s)/ haplotypes in CIC (Fig. 5). This methodology will generate a set of validated SNPs that are predictive for cardiotoxicity and can be directly used in a clinical cardiotoxicity algorithm that can classify patients who are more susceptible to CIC. Furthermore, this platform would provide cardio-oncologists with an invaluable tool to individualize patientspecific chemotherapies before beginning treatment, rather than experience undesirable cardiotoxicity retrospectively. This methodology will



Fig. 5. Schematic of the process for elucidating the role of genetic mutations in chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity.

help achieve maximal benefit and minimal side-effects from evolving chemotherapeutics, thus significantly improving cancer treatment.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge funding support from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Pathway to Independence Award R00 HL121177, the American Heart Association Beginning Grant–in–Aid 14BGIA20480329, and the Dixon Translational Research Young Investigator Award (P.W.B.), along with the NIH Center for Advancing Translational Sciences Grant TL1TR001423 (B.T.B). We apologize to those investigators whose work was omitted here due to space limitations.

References

- Aichberger, K. J., Herndlhofer, S., Schernthaner, G. -H., Schillinger, M., Mitterbauer-Hohendanner, G., Sillaber, C., & Valent, P. (2011). Progressive peripheral arterial occlusive disease and other vascular events during nilotinib therapy in CML. *Am J Hematol* 86, 533–539.
- Aminkeng, F., Bhavsar, A. P., Visscher, H., Rassekh, S. R., Li, Y., Lee, J. W., Brunham, L. R., et al. (2015, August). A Coding Variant in RARG Confers Susceptibility to Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity in Childhood Cancer. *Nature Genetics*. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng.3374.
- Arcamone, F., Cassinelli, G., Fantini, G., Grein, A., Orezzi, P., Pol, C., & Spalla, C. (1969). Adriamycin, 14-Hydroxydaunomycin, a New Antitumor Antibiotic from S. Peucetius Var. Caesius. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 11(6), 1101–1110. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/bit.260110607.
- Ardlie, K. G., Lunetta, K. L., & Seielstad, M. (2002). Testing for population subdivision and association in four case-control studies. Am J Hum Genet 71, 304–311.
- Babiarz, J. E., Ravon, M., Sridhar, S., Ravindran, P., Swanson, B., Bitter, H., ... Kolaja, K. L. (2012). Determination of the human cardiomyocyte mRNA and miRNA differentiation network by fine-scale profiling. *Stem Cells Dev 21*, 1956–1965.
 Bains, O. S., Takahashi, R. H., Pfeifer, T. A., Grigliatti, T. A., Reid, R. E., & Riggs, K. W. (2008).
- Bains, O. S., Takahashi, R. H., Pfeifer, T. A., Grigliatti, T. A., Reid, R. E., & Riggs, K. W. (2008). Two allelic variants of aldo-keto reductase 1A1 exhibit reduced in vitro metabolism of daunorubicin. *Drug Metab Dispos* 36, 904–910.
- Bair, S. M., Choueiri, T. K., & Moslehi, J. (2013). Cardiovascular complications associated with novel angiogenesis inhibitors: emerging evidence and evolving perspectives. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 23, 104–113.
- Bissery, M. C., Guénard, D., Guéritte-Voegelein, F., & Lavelle, F. (1991). Experimental antitumor activity of taxotere (RP 56976, NSC 628503), a taxol analogue. *Cancer Res* 51, 4845–4852.
- Blanco, J. G., Sun, C. -L., Landier, W., Chen, L., Esparza-Duran, D., Leisenring, W., Mays, A., et al. (2012). Anthracycline-Related Cardiomyopathy After Childhood Cancer: Role of Polymorphisms in Carbonyl Reductase Genes–A Report From the Children's Oncology Group. Journal of Clinical Oncology 30(13), 1415–1421. http://dx.doi.org/10.1200/ ICO.2011.34,8987.
- Botstein, D., & Risch, N. (2003). Discovering genotypes underlying human phenotypes: past successes for Mendelian disease, future approaches for complex disease. *Nat Genet* 33, 228–237 (Suppl).
- Bray, J., Sludden, J., Griffin, M. J., Cole, M., Verrill, M., Jamieson, D., & Boddy, A. V. (2010). Influence of pharmacogenetics on response and toxicity in breast cancer patients treated with doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide. *British Journal of Cancer 102*(6), 1003–1009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6605587.
- Brümmendorf, T. H., Cortes, J. E., de Souza, C. A., Guilhot, F., Duvillié, L., Pavlov, D., ... Gambacorti-Passerini, C. (2015). Bosutinib versus imatinib in newly diagnosed chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukaemia: results from the 24-month follow-up of the BELA trial. *Br J Haematol* 168, 69–81.
- Burridge, P. W., Li, Y. F., Matsa, E., Wu, H., Ong, S. -G., Sharma, A., ... Wu, J. C. (2016). Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes recapitulate the predilection of breast cancer patients to doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. *Nat Med* 22(5), 547–556.
- Burridge, P. W., Thompson, S., Millrod, M. A., Weinberg, S., Yuan, X., Peters, A., ... Zambidis, E. T. (2011). A universal system for highly efficient cardiac differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells that eliminates interline variability. *PLoS One 6*, e18293.
- Callens, C., Debled, M., Delord, M., Turbiez-Stalain, I., Veyret, C., Bièche, I., & Brain, E. (2015). High-Throughput Pharmacogenetics Identifies SLC01A2 Polymorphisms as Candidates to Elucidate the Risk of Febrile Neutropenia in the Breast Cancer RAPP-01 Trial. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 153(2), 383–389. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/s10549-015-3552-7.
- Carvajal-Vergara, X., Sevilla, A., D'Souza, S. L., Ang, Y. -S., Schaniel, C., Lee, D. -F., ... Lemischka, I. R. (2010). Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cell derived models of LEOPARD syndrome. *Nature* 465, 808–812.
- Chaiswing, L., Cole, M. P., Ittarat, W., Szweda, L. I., St Clair, D. K., & Oberley, T. D. (2005). Manganese superoxide dismutase and inducible nitric oxide synthase modify early

oxidative events in acute adriamycin-induced mitochondrial toxicity. Mol Cancer Ther 4, 1056–1064.

- Champoux, J. J. (2001). DNA topoisomerases: structure, function, and mechanism. Annu Rev Biochem 70, 369–413.
- Chen, M. H., Kerkelä, R., & Force, T. (2008). Mechanisms of cardiac dysfunction associated with tyrosine kinase inhibitor cancer therapeutics. *Circulation* 118, 84–95.
- Choueiri, T. K., Schutz, F. A. B., Je, Y., Rosenberg, J. E., & Bellmunt, J. (2010). Risk of arterial thromboembolic events with sunitinib and sorafenib: a systematic review and metaanalysis of clinical trials. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 28, 2280–2285.
- Chu, T. F., Rupnick, M. A., Kerkela, R., Dallabrida, S. M., Zurakowski, D., Nguyen, L., ... Chen, M. H. (2007). Cardiotoxicity associated with tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib. *Lancet* 370, 2011–2019.
- Crone, S. A., Zhao, Y. -Y., Fan, L., Gu, Y., Minamisawa, S., Liu, Y., ... Lee, K. -F. (2002). ErbB2 is essential in the prevention of dilated cardiomyopathy. *Nat Med* 8, 459–465.
- Czaykowski, P. M., Moore, M. J., & Tannock, I. F. (1998). High risk of vascular events in patients with urothelial transitional cell carcinoma treated with cisplatin based chemotherapy. J Urol 160, 2021–2024.
- Demetri, G. D. (2007). Structural reengineering of imatinib to decrease cardiac risk in cancer therapy. *J Clin Invest* 117, 3650–3653.
- Di Marco, A., Cassinelli, G., & Arcamone, F. (1981). The Discovery of Daunorubicin. Cancer Treatment Reports 65(Suppl. 4), 3–8.
- Doherty, K. R., Wappel, R. L., Talbert, D. R., Trusk, P. B., Moran, D. M., Kramer, J. W., ... Bacus, S. (2013). Multi-parameter in vitro toxicity testing of crizotinib, sunitinib, erlotinib, and nilotinib in human cardiomyocytes. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 272, 245–255.
- Drawnel, F. M., Boccardo, S., Prummer, M., Delobel, F., Graff, A., Weber, M., ... Iacone, R. (2014). Disease modeling and phenotypic drug screening for diabetic cardiomyopathy using human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Cell Rep* 9, 810–821.
- Druker, B. J., Guilhot, F., O'Brien, S. G., Gathmann, I., Kantarjian, H., Gattermann, N., ... Investigators, I. (2006). Five-year follow-up of patients receiving imatinib for chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 355, 2408–2417.
- Druker, B. J., Talpaz, M., Resta, D. J., Peng, B., Buchdunger, E., Ford, J. M., ... Sawyers, C. L. (2001). Efficacy and safety of a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 344, 1031–1037.
- Durinck, S., Spellman, P. T., Birney, E., & Huber, W. (2009). Mapping identifiers for the integration of genomic datasets with the R/Bioconductor package biomaRt. *Nat Protoc* 4, 1184–1191.
- Espinosa, E., Zamora, P., Feliu, J., & González Barón, M. (2003). Classification of anticancer drugs—a new system based on therapeutic targets. *Cancer Treat Rev* 29, 515–523.
- Evans, W. E., & McLeod, H. L. (2003). Pharmacogenomics—drug disposition, drug targets, and side effects. N Engl J Med 348, 538–549.
- Finck, B. N., & Kelly, D. P. (2007). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1 (PGC-1) regulatory cascade in cardiac physiology and disease. *Circulation* 115, 2540–2548.
- Fan, L., Goh, B. -C., Wong, C. -I., Sukri, N., Lim, S. -E., Tan, S. -H., Guo, J. -Y., et al. (2008). Genotype of Human Carbonyl Reductase CBR3 Correlates with Doxorubicin Disposition and Toxicity. *Pharmacogenetics and Genomics* 18(7), 621–631. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1097/FPC.0b013e328301a869.
- Folmer, Y., Schneider, M., Blum, H. E., & Hafkemeyer, P. (2007). Reversal of drug resistance of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by adenoviral delivery of anti-ABCC2 antisense constructs. *Cancer Gene Ther* 14, 875–884.
- Giles, F. J., Mauro, M. J., Hong, F., Ortmann, C. E., McNeill, C., Woodman, R. C., ... Saglio, G. (2013). Rates of peripheral arterial occlusive disease in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia in the chronic phase treated with imatinib, nilotinib, or non-tyrosine kinase therapy: a retrospective cohort analysis. *Leukemia* 27, 1310–1315.
- Giordano, S. H., Booser, D. J., Murray, J. L., Ibrahim, N. K., Rahman, Z. U., Valero, V., ... Hortobagyi, G. N. (2002). A detailed evaluation of cardiac toxicity: a phase II study of doxorubicin and one- or three-hour-infusion paclitaxel in patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 8, 3360–3368.
- Gonzalez-Covarrubias, V., Zhang, J., Kalabus, J. L., Relling, M. V., & Blanco, J. G. (2009). Pharmacogenetics of Human Carbonyl Reductase 1 (CBR1) in Livers from Black and White Donors. Drug Metabolism and Disposition: The Biological Fate of Chemicals 37(2), 400–407. http://dx.doi.org/10.1124/dmd.108.024547.
- Goormaghtigh, E., Brasseur, R., Huart, P., & Ruysschaert, J. M. (1987). Study of the adriamycin–cardiolipin complex structure using attenuated total reflection infrared spectroscopy. *Biochemistry 26*, 1789–1794.
- Gregers, J., Gréen, H., Christensen, I. J., Dalhoff, K., Schroeder, H., Carlsen, N., ... Peterson, C. (2015). Polymorphisms in the ABCB1 gene and effect on outcome and toxicity in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *The Pharmacogenomics Journal* 15(4), 372–379. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/tpj.2014.81.
- Guarneri, V., Lenihan, D. J., Valero, V., Durand, J. -B., Broglio, K., Hess, K. R., ... Esteva, F. J. (2006). Long-term cardiac tolerability of trastuzumab in metastatic breast cancer: the M.D. Anderson Cancer Center experience. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 24, 4107–4115.
- Hagleitner, M. M., Coenen, M. J. H., Gelderblom, H., Makkinje, R. R., Vos, H. I., de Bont, E. S. J. M., van der Graaf, W. T. A., et al. (2015). A First Step toward Personalized Medicine in Osteosarcoma: Pharmacogenetics as Predictive Marker of Outcome after Chemo-therapy-Based Treatment. *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 21*(15), 3436–3441. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2638.
- Herman, E. H., Knapton, A., Rosen, E., Thompson, K., Rosenzweig, B., Estis, J., ... Zhang, J. (2011). A multifaceted evaluation of imatinib-induced cardiotoxicity in the rat. *Toxicol Pathol* 39, 1091–1106.
- Hertz, D. L., & McLeod, H. L. (2013). Use of pharmacogenetics for predicting cancer prognosis and treatment exposure, response and toxicity. J Hum Genet 58, 346–352.
- Hertz, D. L., Caram, M. V., Kidwell, K. M., Thibert, J. N., Gersch, C., Seewald, N. J., Smerage, J., et al. (2016). Evidence for Association of SNPs in ABCB1 and CBR3, but Not RAC2, NCF4, SLC28A3 or TOP2B, with Chronic Cardiotoxicity in a Cohort of Breast Cancer

Patients Treated with Anthracyclines. *Pharmacogenomics* 17(3), 231–240. http://dx. doi.org/10.2217/pgs.15.162.

Houtkooper, R. H., & Vaz, F. M. (2008). Cardiolipin, the heart of mitochondrial metabolism. Cell Mol Life Sci 65, 2493–2506.

- Ikeda, M., Tsuji, D., Yamamoto, K., Kim, Y. -I., Daimon, T., Iwabe, Y., ... Itoh, K. (2015). Relationship between ABCB1 gene polymorphisms and severe neutropenia in patients with breast cancer treated with doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide chemotherapy. *Drug Metabolism and Pharmacokinetics* 30(2), 149–153. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. dmpk.2014.09.009.
- Itzhaki, I., Maizels, L., Huber, I., Zwi-Dantsis, L., Caspi, O., Winterstern, A., ... Gepstein, L. (2011). Modelling the long QT syndrome with induced pluripotent stem cells. *Nature* 471, 225–229.
- Jabbour, E., Kantarjian, H. M., Saglio, G., Steegmann, J. L., Shah, N. P., Boqué, C., ... Hochhaus, A. (2014). Early response with dasatinib or imatinib in chronic myeloid leukemia: 3year follow-up from a randomized phase 3 trial (DASISION). *Blood* 123, 494–500.
- Jordheim, L. P., Ribrag, V., Ghesquieres, H., Pallardy, S., Delarue, R., Tilly, H., Haioun, C., et al. (2015). Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in ABCB1 and CBR1 Can Predict Toxicity to R-CHOP Type Regimens in Patients with Diffuse Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Haematologica* 100(5). e204–e206. http://dx.doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2014.120113
- Haematologica 100(5), e204–e206. http://dx.doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2014.120113.
 Joerger, M., Huitema, A. D. R., Meenhorst, P. L., Schellens, J. H. M., & Beijnen, J. H. (2005). Pharmacokinetics of low-dose doxorubicin and metabolites in patients with AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* 55, 488–496.
- Kantarjian, H., Giles, F., Wunderle, L., Bhalla, K., O'Brien, S., Wassmann, B., ... Ottmann, O. G. (2006). Nilotinib in imatinib-resistant CML and Philadelphia chromosome-positive ALL. N Engl J Med 354, 2542–2551.
- Kappers, M. H. W., van Esch, J. H. M., Sluiter, W., Sleijfer, S., Danser, A. H. J., & van den Meiracker, A. H. (2010). Hypertension induced by the tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib is associated with increased circulating endothelin-1 levels. *Hypertension 56*, 675–681.
- Kerkelä, R., Grazette, L., Yacobi, R., Iliescu, C., Patten, R., Beahm, C., ... Force, T. (2006). Cardiotoxicity of the cancer therapeutic agent imatinib mesylate. *Nat Med 12*, 908–916.
- Kim, C., Wong, J., Wen, J., Wang, S., Wang, C., Spiering, S., ... Chen, H. -S. V. (2013). Studying arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia with patient-specific iPSCs. *Nature* 494, 105–110.
- Krajinovic, M., Elbared, J., Drouin, S., Bertout, L., Rezgui, A., Ansari, M., Raboisson, M. -J., et al. (2015, September). Polymorphisms of ABCC5 and NOS3 Genes Influence Doxorubicin Cardiotoxicity in Survivors of Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *The Pharmacogenomics Journal*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/tpj.2015.63.
- Lal, S., Wong, Z. W., Jada, S. R., Xiang, X., Chen Shu, X., Ang, P. C. S., ... Chowbay, B. (2007). Novel SLC22A16 polymorphisms and influence on doxorubicin pharmacokinetics in Asian breast cancer patients. *Pharmacogenomics* 8(6), 567–575. http://dx.doi.org/10. 2217/14622416.8.6.567.
- Lal, S., Wong, Z. W., Sandanaraj, E., Xiang, X., Ang, P. C. S., Lee, E. J. D., & Chowbay, B. (2008). Influence of ABCB1 and ABCG2 polymorphisms on doxorubicin disposition in Asian breast cancer patients. *Cancer Science* 99(4), 816–823.
- Licata, S., Saponiero, A., Mordente, A., & Minotti, G. (2000). Doxorubicin metabolism and toxicity in human myocardium: role of cytoplasmic deglycosidation and carbonyl reduction. *Chem Res Toxicol* 13, 414–420.
- Lipshultz, S. E., Alvarez, J. A., & Scully, R. E. (2008). Anthracycline Associated Cardiotoxicity in Survivors of Childhood Cancer. *Heart (British Cardiac Society)* 94(4), 525–533. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/hrt.2007.136093.
- López-Otín, C., & Hunter, T. (2010). The regulatory crosstalk between kinases and proteases in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 10, 278–292.
- Ma, J., Guo, L., Fiene, S. J., Anson, B. D., Thomson, J. A., Kamp, T. J., ... January, C. T. (2011). High purity human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes: electrophysiological properties of action potentials and ionic currents. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 301, H2006–H2017.
- Malan, D., Zhang, M., Stallmeyer, B., Müller, J., Fleischmann, B. K., Schulze-Bahr, E., ... Greber, B. (2016). Human iPS cell model of type 3 long QT syndrome recapitulates drug-based phenotype correction. *Basic Res Cardiol* 111.
- Manning, G., Whyte, D. B., Martinez, R., Hunter, T., & Sudarsanam, S. (2002). The protein kinase complement of the human genome. *Science* 298, 1912–1934.
- McClellan, J., & King, M. -C. (2010). Genetic heterogeneity in human disease. Cell 141, 210–217.
- Meinardi, M. T., Gietema, J. A., van der Graaf, W. T., van Veldhuisen, D. J., Runne, M. A., Sluiter, W. J., ... Sleijfer, D. T. (2000). Cardiovascular morbidity in long-term survivors of metastatic testicular cancer. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 18, 1725–1732.
- Miller, K. D., Chap, L. I., Holmes, F. A., Cobleigh, M. A., Marcom, P. K., Fehrenbacher, L., ... Rugo, H. S. (2005). Randomized phase III trial of capecitabine compared with bevacizumab plus capecitabine in patients with previously treated metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 23, 792–799.
- Minotti, G., Menna, P., Salvatorelli, E., Cairo, G., & Gianni, L. (2004). Anthracyclines: molecular advances and pharmacologic developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. *Pharmacol Rev* 56, 185–229.
- Mordente, A., Meucci, E., Silvestrini, A., Martorana, G. E., & Giardina, B. (2009). New developments in anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. *Curr Med Chem* 16, 1656–1672.
- Moslehi, J. J., & Deininger, M. (2015). Tyrosine kinase inhibitor-associated cardiovascular toxicity in chronic myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 33, 4210–4218.
- Octavia, Y., Tocchetti, C. G., Gabrielson, K. L., Janssens, S., Crijns, H. J., & Moens, A. L. (2012). Doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic strategies. J Mol Cell Cardiol 52, 1213–1225.
- Oeffinger, K. C., Mertens, A. C., Sklar, C. A., Kawashima, T., Hudson, M. M., Meadows, A. T., ... Childhood Cancer Survivor, S. (2006). Chronic health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer. N Engl J Med 355, 1572–1582.

- Orphanos, G. S., Ioannidis, G. N., & Ardavanis, A. G. (2009). Cardiotoxicity induced by tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Acta Oncol 48*, 964–970.
- Palmer, D. H. (2008). Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 359, 2498 (author reply 2498–2499).
- Piccart-Gebhart, M. J., Procter, M., Leyland-Jones, B., Goldhirsch, A., Untch, M., Smith, I., ... Herceptin Adjuvant Trial Study, T. (2005). Trastuzumab after adjuvant chemotherapy in HER2-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med 353, 1659–1672.
- Piquereau, J., Caffin, F., Novotova, M., Lemaire, C., Veksler, V., Garnier, A., ... Joubert, F. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics in the adult cardiomyocytes: which roles for a highly specialized cell? *Front Physiol* 4, 102.
- Povirk, L. F., & Shuker, D. E. (1994). DNA damage and mutagenesis induced by nitrogen mustards. *Mutat Res* 318, 205–226.
- Puppala, D., Collis, L. P., Sun, S. Z., Bonato, V., Chen, X., Anson, B., ... Engle, S. J. (2013). Comparative gene expression profiling in human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiocytes and human and cynomolgus heart tissue. *Toxicol Sci 131*, 292–301.Rajić, V., Aplenc, R., Debeljak, M., Prestor, V. V., Karas-Kuzelicki, N., Mlinaric-Rascan, I., &
- Rajić, V., Aplenc, R., Debeljak, M., Prestor, V. V., Karas-Kuzelicki, N., Mlinaric-Rascan, I., & Jazbec, J. (2009). Influence of the Polymorphism in Candidate Genes on Late Cardiac Damage in Patients Treated due to Acute Leukemia in Childhood. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* 50(10), 1693–1698.
- Reich, D. E., Cargill, M., Bolk, S., Ireland, J., Sabeti, P. C., Richter, D. J., ... Lander, E. S. (2001). Linkage disequilibrium in the human genome. *Nature* 411, 199–204.
- Shopp, G. M., Helson, L., Bouchard, A., Salvail, D., & Majeed, M. (2014). Liposomes ameliorate Crizotinib- and Nilotinib-induced inhibition of the cardiac IKr channel and QTc prolongation. *Anticancer Res* 34, 4733–4740.
- Stacy, A. E., Jansson, P. J., & Richardson, D. R. (2013). Molecular pharmacology of ABCG2 and its role in chemoresistance. *Mol Pharmacol* 84, 655–669.
- Sun, N., Yazawa, M., Liu, J., Han, L., Sanchez-Freire, V., Abilez, O. J., ... Wu, J. C. (2012). Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells as a model for familial dilated cardiomyopathy. *Sci Transl Med* 4, 130ra147.
- Swain, S. M., Whaley, F. S., & Ewer, M. S. (2003). Congestive Heart Failure in Patients Treated with Doxorubicin: A Retrospective Analysis of Three Trials. *Cancer* 97(11), 2869–2879. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cncr.11407.
- Toubert, M. -E., Vercellino, L., Faugeron, I., Lussato, D., Hindie, E., & Bousquet, G. (2011). Fatal heart failure after a 26-month combination of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in a papillary thyroid cancer. *Thyroid* 21, 451–454.
- Tulsyan, S., Chaturvedi, P., Agarwal, G., Lal, P., Agrawal, S., Mittal, R. D., & Mittal, B. (2013). Pharmacogenetic influence of GST polymorphisms on anthracycline-based chemotherapy responses and toxicity in breast cancer patients: a multi-analytical approach. *Molecular Diagnosis & Therapy* 17(6), 371–379. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40291-013-0045-4.
- Valent, P., Hadzijusufovic, E., Schernthaner, G. -H., Wolf, D., Rea, D., & le Coutre, P. (2015). Vascular safety issues in CML patients treated with BCR/ABL1 kinase inhibitors. *Blood* 125, 901–906.
- van der Pal, H. J., van Dalen, E. C., Hauptmann, M., Kok, W. E., Caron, H. N., van den Bos, C., ... Kremer, L. C. (2010). Cardiac function in 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: a long-term follow-up study. Arch Intern Med 170, 1247–1255.
- Vatsyayan, R., Chaudhary, P., Lelsani, P. C. R., Singhal, P., Awasthi, Y. C., Awasthi, S., & Singhal, S. S. (2009). Role of RLIP76 in doxorubicin resistance in lung cancer. Int J Oncol 34, 1505–1511.
- Visscher, H., Ross, C. J. D., Rassekh, S. R., Barhdadi, A., Dubé, M. -P., Al-Saloos, H., Sandor, G. S., et al. (2012). Pharmacogenomic Prediction of Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity in Children. Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 30(13), 1422–1428. http://dx.doi.org/10.1200/ ICO.2010.34.3467.
- Visscher, H., Ross, C. J. D., Rassekh, S. R., Sandor, G. S. S., Caron, H. N., van Dalen, E. C., Kremer, L. C., et al. (2013). Validation of Variants in SLC28A3 and UGT1A6 as Genetic Markers Predictive of Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity in Children. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer* 60(8), 1375–1381. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pbc.24505.
- Visscher, H., Rassekh, S. R., Sandor, G. S., Caron, H. N., van Dalen, E. C., Kremer, L. C., van der Pal, H. J., et al. (2015). Genetic Variants in SLC22A17 and SLC22A7 Are Associated with Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity in Children. *Pharmacogenomics* 16(10), 1065–1076. http://dx.doi.org/10.2217/pgs.15.61.
- Voon, P. J., Yap, H. L., Ma, C. -Y. -T., Lu, F., Wong, A. L. A., Sapari, N. S., Soong, R., et al. (2013). Correlation of Aldo-Ketoreductase (AKR) 1C3 Genetic Variant with Doxorubicin Pharmacodynamics in Asian Breast Cancer Patients. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 75(6), 1497–1505. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bcp.12021.
- Wang, G., McCain, M. L., Yang, L., He, A., Pasqualini, F. S., Agarwal, A., ... Pu, W. T. (2014). Modeling the mitochondrial cardiomyopathy of Barth syndrome with induced pluripotent stem cell and heart-on-chip technologies. *Nat Med* 20, 616–623.
- Wani, M. C., Taylor, H. L., Wall, M. E., Coggon, P., & McPhail, A. T. (1971). Plant antitumor agents. VI. The isolation and structure of taxol, a novel antileukemic and antitumor agent from *Taxus brevifolia*. J Am Chem Soc 93, 2325–2327.
- Weisberg, E., Manley, P. W., Breitenstein, W., Brüggen, J., Cowan-Jacob, S. W., Ray, A., ... Griffin, J. D. (2005). Characterization of AMN107, a selective inhibitor of native and mutant Bcr-Abl. *Cancer Cell* 7, 129–141.
- Welter, D., MacArthur, J., Morales, J., Burdett, T., Hall, P., Junkins, H., ... Parkinson, H. (2014). The NHGRI GWAS Catalog, a curated resource of SNP-trait associations. *Nucleic Acids Res* 42, D1001–D1006.
- Wittayanukorn, S., Qian, J., Johnson, B. S., & Hansen, R. A. (2015). Cardiotoxicity in targeted therapy for breast cancer: A study of the FDA adverse event reporting system (FAERS). J Oncol Pharm Pract 0(0), 1–10.
- Wojnowski, L., Kulle, B., Schirmer, M., Schlüter, G., Schmidt, A., Rosenberger, A., Vonhof, S., et al. (2005). NAD(P)H Oxidase and Multidrug Resistance Protein Genetic Polymorphisms Are Associated with Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiotoxicity. *Circulation* 112(24), 3754–3762. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 105.576850.

- Wouters, K. A., Kremer, L. C. M., Miller, T. L., Herman, E. H., & Lipshultz, S. E. (2005). Protecting against Anthracycline-Induced Myocardial Damage: A Review of the Most Promising Strategies. *British Journal of Haematology* 131(5), 561–578. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05759.x.
- Wray, J. A., Sugden, M. C., Zeldin, D. C., Greenwood, G. K., Samsuddin, S., Miller-Degraff, L.,
 ... Bishop-Bailey, D. (2009). The epoxygenases CYP2J2 activates the nuclear receptor PPARalpha in vitro and in vivo. *PLoS One* 4, e7421.
- PARalpha in vitro and in vivo. *PLoS One 4*, e7421.
 Yao, S., Sucheston, L. E., Zhao, H., Barlow, W. E., Zirpoli, G., Liu, S., Moore, H. C. F., et al. (2014). Germline Genetic Variants in ABCB1, ABCC1 and ALDH1A1, and Risk of Hematological and Gastrointestinal Toxicities in a SWOG Phase III Trial S0221 for Breast Cancer. *The Pharmacogenomics Journal* 14(3), 241–247. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/tpj. 2013.32.
- Yazawa, M., Hsueh, B., Jia, X., Pasca, A. M., Bernstein, J. A., Hallmayer, J., & Dolmetsch, R. E. (2011). Using iPS cells to investigate cardiac phenotypes in patients with Timothy Syndrome. *Nature* 471, 230–234.
- Yeh, E. T. H., & Bickford, C. L. (2009). Cardiovascular complications of cancer therapy: incidence, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. J Am Coll Cardiol 53, 2231–2247. Zhao, Y. Y., Sawyer, D. R., Baliga, R. R., Opel, D. J., Han, X., Marchionni, M. A., & Kelly, R. A.
- Zhao, Y. Y., Sawyer, D. R., Baliga, R. R., Opel, D. J., Han, X., Marchionni, M. A., & Kelly, R. A. (1998). Neuregulins promote survival and growth of cardiac myocytes. Persistence of ErbB2 and ErbB4 expression in neonatal and adult ventricular myocytes. J Biol Chem 273, 10261–10269.
- Zhu, X., Wu, S., Dahut, W. L., & Parikh, C. R. (2007). Risks of proteinuria and hypertension with bevacizumab, an antibody against vascular endothelial growth factor: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Kidney Dis 49, 186–193.